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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO%R}T |13 ¥
WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY

AT BOWLING GREEN
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA PLAINTIFF
v. cRMINALNO. / -/ 5 AR ~ W
RENE A. BOUCHER | » DEFENDANT

PLEA AGREEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(B) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the United
States of America, by Jefferson B. Sessions, 111, Attorney General of the United States, Josh J.
Minkler, United States Attorney for the Southern District of Indiana, and Bradley P. Shepard,
Special Attorney to the United States Attorney General, and defendant, RENE A. BOUCHER,
and his attorney, Matthew Baker, have agreed upon the following:

¥ Defendant agrees to waive Indictment by the grand jury and to plead guilty to a
felony Information which will be filed against defendant by the United States Attorney. That
information will charge defendant with a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
351(e).

2. Defendant has read the charge against him contained in the Information, and that
charges have been fully explained to him by his attorney. Defendant fully understands the nature
and elements of the crime with which he has been charged.

3..  Defendant will enter a voluntary plea of guilty to Count One of the Information in
this case. Defendant will plead guilty because he is in fact guilty of the charge[s]. The parties

agree to the following factual basis for this plea:



A. Victim 1 is a sitting United States Senator and a neighbor of Boucher, both living
in Bowling Green, K'Y, within the Western District of Kentucky.

B. On November 03, 2017, Victim 1 was mowing his lawn while wearing
headphones. Boucher states that he witnessed Vicﬁﬁl Istacking more brush on a brush pile and
had “had enough.” Boucher executed a running tackle of Victim 1 on Victim 1’s property.
Victim 1 did not see the attack coming until the last second, and was unable to brace for the
impact. As a direct result of the tackle, Victim 1 sustained displaced left posterolateral fourth
through fifth rib fractures with non-displaced seventh, eighth and ninth posterolateral rib
fractures. Victim 1 subsequently required medical treatment for pneumonia, which developed as
a result of the injuries,

C. The Kentucky State Police responded to the incident, and in a recorded statement,
Boucher admitted to running onto Victim 1°s property and tackling him. Boucher denied that the
attack was politically motivated. Rather, it was a property dispute that finally boiled over.
Boucher was subsequenﬁly interviewed by the FBI. This interview was 13 minutes long and
recorded. Boucher again confessed to tackling Victim 1 while Victim 1 was not looking.

4, Defendant understands that the charge to which he will plead guilty carries a
minimum term of imprisonment of zero years and a maximum term of imprisonment of 10 years,
a maximum fine of $250,000, and a three year term of supervised release. Defendant
understands that an additional term of imprisonment may be ordered if the terms of the

_supervised release are violated, as explained in 18 U.S.C. § 3583.

5. Defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences with respect to

his immigration status if he is not a citizen of the United States. Under federal law, a broad range

of crimes are removable offenses, which may include the offense to which Defendant is pleading



guilty. Because removal and other immigration consequences are handled in separate
proceedings, Defendant understands that no one, inciuding his attorney or the U.S. District
Court, can predict with certainty how his conviction may affect his immigration status.
Defendant agrees to plead guilty with a full understanding that this guilty plea may lead to
adverse immigration cohéequences, including possible automatic removal from the United
States.

6. Defendant understands that if a term of imprisonment of more than one year is
imposed, the Sentencing Guidelines require a term of supervised release and that he wﬂl then be
subject to certain conditions of release. §§5D1.1,5D1.2, 5D1.3. |

T Defendant understands that by pleading guilty, he surrenders certain rights set
forth below. Defendant's attorney has explained those rights to him and the consequences of his
waiver of those rights, including the following:

A. If defendant persists in a plea of not guilty to the charge against him, he
has the right to a public and speedy trial. The trial could either be a jury trial or a trial by
the judge sitting without a jury. If there is a jury trial, the jury would have to agree
unanimously before it could return a verdict of either guilty or not guilty. The jury would
be instructed that defendant is presumed innocent and that it could not convict him
unless, after hearing all the evidence, it was persuaded of defendant's guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt.

B. At a trial, whether by a jury or a judge, the United States would be
required to preseﬁt its witnesses and other evidence against defendant. Defendant would
be able to confront those government witnesses and his attorney would be able to cross-

examine them. In turn, defendant could present witnesses and other evidence in his own



behalf. If the witnesses for defendant would not appéar voluntarily, he could require their
attendance through the subpoena power of the Court.

C. At a trial, defendant would have a privilege against self-incrimination and
he could decline to testify, without any inference of guilt being drawn from his refusal to
testify. If defendant desired to do so, he could testify in his own behalf.

8. Defendant understands that the United States Attorney's Office has an obligation
to fully apprise the District Court and the United States Probation Office of all facts pertinent to
the sentencing process, and to respond to all legal or factual inquiries that might éIise either
before, during, or after sentencing. Defendant admits all acts and essential elements of the
indictment counts to which he pleads guilty.

9. Defendant agrees that the amount of restitution ordered by the Court shall include
Defendant’s total offense conduct, and is not limited to the count of conviction. The parties will
provide evidence on the amount of restitution the Defendant shall pay. The parties agree that the
restitution shall be ordered due and payable on the date of sentencing. Defendant agrees that any
pa‘yment schedule imposed by the Court is without prejudice to the United States to take all
actions available to it to collect the full amount of the restitution at any time. Restitution
payments shall be made payable to the U.S. District Court Clerk at Gene Snyder Courthouse, 601
W. Broadway, Louisville, K'Y 40202. The restitution shall be paid to or on behalf of the
following victim(s): Victim 1.

Defendant agrees that not later than 45 days from entry of the Plea Agreement, Defendant
shall provide to the United States, under penalty of perjury, a financial disclosure form listing all
Defendant’s assets/financial interests. Defendant authorizes the United States to run credit

bureau reports prior to sentencing, and Defendant will sign releases authorizing the United States



to obtain Defendant's financial records. Defendant understands that these assets and financial
interests include all assets and financial interests in which Defendant has an interest, direct or
indirect, whether held in Defendant's own name or in the name of another, in any property, real
or personal. Defendant shall also identify all assets valued at more than $5,000 which have been
transferred to third parties since the date of the first offense, including the location of the assets
and the identity of the third party(ies). Defendant agrees that the United States may share the
contents of the reports and financial disclosures with the Court and U.S. Probation.

Defendant agrees to submit to a deposition in aid of collection at times and places that the
United States directs. If the Defendant has a financial advisor or accountant, Defendant agrees,
at his expense, to make them available to aid the United States in determining Defendant’s net
worth. Defendant authorizes the United States to file notice of Lis Pendens prior to judgment on
any real property Defendant owns either individually or jointly. Defendant agrees to his name
and debt being added to the Treasury Offset Program.

Upon execution of the Plea Agreement, Defendant agrees not to transfer, sell, or secrete
any of Defendant’s property, real or personal, held jointly, individually or by nominee/third
party, valued at $5,000 or more without first advising the United States not less than 10 days
before the proposed sale or transfer.

10.  Defendant agrees that failure to comply with any of the provisions of this
Agreement constitutes a materia] breach of the Plea Agreement and Defendant agrees that the
United States is relieved of its obligations under this Agreement and/or may not move the Court
pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(b) to reduce the offense level by one additional level, and may iﬁ

its discretion argue to the Court that the Defendant should not receive a two-level reduction for



acceptance of responsibility pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a). However, the Defendant may not
withdraw his guilty plea because of his breach.

11.  Defendant acknowledges liability for the special assessment mandated by 18
U.S.C. § 3013 and will pay the assessment in the amount $100 to the United States District Court
Clerk's Office by the date of sentencing.

12.  Sentencing Terms:

A. At the time of sentencing, the United States will recommend a sentence of
imprisonment for a period of 21 months. The United States reserves the right to present
evidence and arguments in favor of its recommended sentence. The United States will
leave the imposition of a fine to the discretion of the Court.

B. Defendant reserves the right to present evidence and arguments
concerning any sentence he believes to be appropriate in the case.

C. The United States will recomimend a reduction of 3 levels below the

otherwise applicable Guideline for "acceptance of responsibility" as provided by §3E1.1(a) and
. (b), provided the defendant does not engage in future conduct which violates any federal or state
law, violates a condition 6f bond, constitutes obstruction of justice, or otherwise demonstrates a
lack of acceptance of responsibility. Should such conduct occur and the United States, therefore,
opposes the reduction for acceptance, this plea agreement remains binding and the defendant will
not be allowed to withdraw his plea.

13.  Both parties have independently reviewed the Sentencing Guidelines applicable in
this case, and in their best judgment and belief, conclude as follows:

A. The Applicable Offense Level should be determined as follows:



(1).  United States Sentencing Guideline (“USSG”) § 2A2.2(a) sets the base
offense level of 14.

(2).  Five levels are added because the Victim 1 sustained serious bodily
injuries as a result of the assault. USSG § 2A2.2(b)(3)(B).

(3).  Defendant shall receive a three level reduction for acceptance of
responsibility so long as the defendant complies with this agreement.
USSG § 3E1.1(a) and (b).

B. Defendant’s criminal history shall be determined upon completion of the
presentence investigation, pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 32(c). Both parties reserve the
right to object to the USSG §4A1.1 calculation of defendant’s criminal history. The
parties agree to not seek a departure from the Criminal History Category pursuant to
§4A1.3.

C, The foregoing statements of applicability of sections of the Sentencing
Guidelines and the statement of facts are not binding upon the Court. Defendant
understands the Court will independently calculate the Guidelines at sentencing and -
defendant may not withdraw the plea of guilty solely because the Court does not agree
with either the statement of facts or Sentencing Guideline application.

14.  Defendant is aware of his right to appeal his conviction and that 18 U.S.C. § 3742
affords a defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed. Unless based on claims of
ineffective assistance of counsel or prosecutorial misconduct, Defendant knowingly and
voluntarily waives the right (a) to directly appeal his conviction and the resulting sentence
pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 4(b) and 18 U.S.C. § 3742, and (b) to contest or collaterally attack

his conviction and the resulting sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or otherwise.



15.  Defendant understands and agrees that by entering into this Plea Agreement, he
becomes subject to 12 U.S.C. § 1829, which precludes him from participating, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of any insured depository inétitutioq without the prior
written consent of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or other federal financial institution
regulatory agency.

16. It is understood that pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1)(B), the
recommendations of the United States are not binding on the Court. In other words, the Court is
not bound by the sentencing recommendation and defendant will have no right to withdrgw his
guilty plea if the Court decides not to accept the sentencing recommendation set forth in this
Agreement.

17.  Defendant agrees that the disposition provided for within this Agreement is fair,
taking into account all aggravating and mitigating factors. Defendant states that he has informed .
the United States Attorney's Office and the Probation Officer, either directly or through his

attorney, of all mitigating factors.



18. This document and the plea supplement state the complete and only Plea
Agreements between the United States and defendant in this case, and are binding only on the
parties to this Agreement, supersede all prior understandings, if any, whether written or oral, and
cannot be modified other than in writing signed by all parties or on-the record in Court. No other
promises or inducements have been or will be made to defendant in connection with this case,
nor have any predictions or threats been made in connection with this plea.

AGREED:
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
JEFFERSON B. SESSIONS, III

Attorney General of the United States

JOSH J. MINKLER
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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Date

Special Attorney to the

United States Attorney General

Office of the United States Attorney for the
Southern District of Indiana

I have read this Agreement and carefully reviewed every part of it with my attorney. I

fully understand it and I voluntarily agree to it.

RENE A. B(WJCHER/ a Date
Defendant

I am the defendant's counsel. I have carefully reviewed every part of this Agreement
with the defendant. To my knowledge my client's decision to enter into this Agreement is an
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Matthew Baker Date
Counsel for Defendant



